STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COURT OF APPEALS

Lake City College Preparatory Academy
(LCCPA)

V.

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

South Carolina Public Charter School District
(SCPCSD)

John D. McLeod, Judge

~~INITIAL~~ FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Case No. 2014-002372

~~Johnny E. Watson, Sr., Esquire Watson Law Firm
Post Office Box 2305
2715 Edgewood Drive Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 400-1600
Co-Counsel for Appellant~~

RECEIVED
JUN 22 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Erik T. Norton
Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP 1320 Main Street, Meridian
Building
Post Office Box 11070 (29211)
Columbia SC 29201
(803) 799 2000
Counsel for Respondent

~~Willcox, Huyck and Williams~~

STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER AND APPELLATE JURISDICTION

The South Carolina Public Charter School District (SCPCSD) was created through the South Carolina Charter School Act (the Act) passed by the General Assembly entitled the South Carolina Charter School Act of 1996 in Section 59-40-220. The Lake City College Preparatory Academy (LCCPA) is a charter school created under that act in August 2009. The 2009-2010 school year was the planning year for the new school which admitted its first student in the 2010-2011 school year. The Act gave the SCPCSD Board authority to grant charters to applying schools and to revoke the charter of charter schools established under the Act under certain specified conditions. The LCCPA's school charter was revoked by the South Carolina Public Charter School District (SCPCSD or the District) in its decision issued May 8, 2014. The Act provided for the appeal of final decisions of the SCPCSD to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (ALC). S. C. Code of Laws (1996), Section 59-40-90. Appeals from the South Carolina Administrative Law Court is to this Court pursuant to

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The issues before this Court are as follows:

1. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the Charter of the Lake City College Preparatory Academy was lawfully revoked under section 59-40-110 of the South Carolina Charter School Act (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976)?
2. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the South Carolina Charter Act is constitutional in its provision which allows a charter school sponsor be both the

accuser and finder of fact in a charter revocation hearing under section 59-40-110 (C) of the South Carolina Charter School Act (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976)?

3. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the revocation hearing by the District was held within the time limits imposed under the South Carolina Charter School Act (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976) Section 59-40-110(D)?

4. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the District's decision to revoke LCCPA's charter was not arbitrary and capricious, and characterized by abuse of discretion or a clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion?

5. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the decision to revoke the LCCPA's charter by the SCPCSD's board was made by a legally constituted board. (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976) and that the SCPCSD's board was legally constituted at the Revocation Hearing?

6. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the revocation hearing was not a sham by a biased school board when the hearing officer refused to allow the attorneys for LCCPA to completely examine witnesses and directed the attorneys to put the proffered testimony in the record when the revocation vote was taken immediately after the hearing with no review of the documents placed in the record?

7. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the South Carolina Charter School District did not violate other provisions of the South Carolina Charter School Act (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976) in its decision to revoke the charter of the Lake City College Preparatory Academy?

8. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that the South Carolina Public Charter School's District did not violate provisions of the South Carolina Charter School Act

(South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976) by the district failing to retain responsibility for special education and ensuring that students enrolled in its charter schools are served in a manner consistent with LEA obligations under applicable federal, state, and local law?

9. Whether the Administrative Law Judge erred in finding that LCCPA was granted a meaningful opportunity to remedy its problem in a way which would not unduly inhibited the autonomy granted to public charter schools?

10. Whether the Administrative Law Judge wrongly cut off the funds to LCCPA during the pendency of this appeal? And

11. Whether the statute which allows a charter school's funding to be cut off during the pendency of litigation is constitutional?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. This case was commenced on March 19, 2014 when the Respondent issued its letter revoking the charter of the Appellant under the provisions of the South Carolina Public Charter School Act School Act. Rec. pg 0254, ~~Ins~~InsI4-18.

The Appellant filed a timely request for a hearing on the revocation decision of the Respondent on March 26, 2014, so the Respondent scheduled a revocation hearing at its headquarters on May 8, 2014 with its chairman, Don McLaurin, presiding over the revocation proceeding and with the Respondent board acting as the finders of fact and the voters, along with chairman, Don McLaurin, on the question of final revocation at the end of the hearing.

REC.

0025.

The Respondent board conducted a revocation hearing on May 8, 2014 and at the close of arguments issued its oral decision upholding its previous revocation decision and followed that announcement with a written revocation order on May 23, 2014.

The Appellant thereafter filed a timely notice of Appeal to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court on May 15, 2014 based on the oral decision announced at the revocation hearing but at the urging of the Respondent's attorney an Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on June 16, 2014 after the written order was issued May 23, 2014. Rec pg _____.

The parties submitted briefs on the issues before the Administrative Law. REC _____. That court thereafter heard oral arguments of the parties on September 4, 2014 and issued its order upholding the revocation decision of the Respondent on October 9, 2014. The Appellant thereafter filed a Notice of appeal in this Court is November 7, 2014 and served a copy on the Respondent on that date.

b. b. The nature of this action is a request by the appellant for this court to review the actions of the Respondent in revoking its charter pursuant to the South Caroling Public Charter School Act and a review of the decision of the South Carolina Administrative Law Court in upholding the Respondent's revocation decision.

e. c. The nature of the defense to the revocation is that the Respondent had no valid statutory ground to revoke the charter of the appellant.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The factual and procedural background in this case is fully set out in the Brief of the Appellant before the Administrative Law Court that is part of this record. Rec. _____.

The revocation is based on 36 allegations of fact by the Respondent and each allegation is fully addressed by the Appellant in its brief filed with the Administrative Law Court. REC.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Administrative Law Judge essentially adopted the arguments in the brief of the Respondent as its order in this case. REC —2813. Judge McLeod found that substantial evidence existed in the record as a whole to uphold the findings of the Board. He did not address the issue of the constitutionality of the statute as a whole or any of its subdivisions or on the fairness of the proceedings. Rec —2813-2814.

The establishment of any school is fraught with hazards and mistakes will be made by the founders and administrators of any such new school. The legislature recognized that fact in the newest version of the law when it provided that no school's charter would be revoked in the first five years of the school's existence. Rec —2817-2828.

The founders and administrators of the Appellant school, LCCPA, made mistakes as well but those mistakes should not rise to the level which requires revocation of its charter. The school was only in its third year of existence and had made laudable achievements. Rec —2917-2919. It was successfully combining children's love of the arts (music, singing, dancing, etc.) with the academic curriculum that endeared both the students and their parents to the school. Rec —. It was based on the renowned Harlem School of the Arts where its founder Dr. Deloris Brown was once the principal. Rec —2915.

The school was not given a fair chance when it became targeted for the revocation of its charter almost from the beginning of its existence. There is an emphasis by the Respondent school board, as embodied in the actions of the board chairman Don McLaurin, on the results

of standardized tests without regard to the background of the students being tested. That is certainly understandable if all of the schools and students in attendance at those schools came from similar background but that is not the case.

The students of LCCPA were largely student who qualified for the free lunch program. In the education world that speaks volumes about the background and often about the home situation of the students. They are not as prepared as their counterparts in the normal public school and most of the successful charter schools.:

However, such students and their parents are drawn to schools such as LCCPA in hope of getting the attention the students need in a smaller less hostile environment of the traditional public school.

LCCPA was successful in its efforts to help the students reach a high level of achievement as it indicated it would do in its charter agreement. To see where many of the students started and where they are now is no less than astonishing. However, to say that students would score as well as the public schools or charter school with less free lunch students is unrealistic and such was not ~~promised~~permitted by the school's founders and administrators.

To deny LCCPA and such schools the right to exist because of the underprivileged students they serve is not fair to the students, their teachers and the students' parents.

ARGUMENTS

I. The Administrative Law Judge erred when he found that the Charter of the Lake City College Preparatory Academy was lawfully revoked under section 59-40-110 of the South Carolina Charter School Act (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976).

The Appellant's argument on this issue is fully set out in its brief filed in the Administrative law court which is part of this record. Rec _____

Judge McLeod found that "In reviewing the Record, the Court finds substantial evidence in the Record to support the Board's conclusion in the Final Decision that at least one of the criteria requiring revocation of LCCPA's charter exists in this case. He did not relate this finding to any particular allowable reason for revocation for the most part. He found the following in support of his decision:

A. Violation of the Conditions, Standards or Procedures in the Charter Application.

i. Failure to comply with Special Education Laws.

The essence of the LCCPA's response to that assertion is that:

- LCCPA has hired two expert Special Education consultants. One was over the Special Education Department for Sumter County School District and the other was over Special Education Department in Williamsburg County. Those individuals believe this is a simple misunderstanding not a matter of noncompliance issue. LCCPA's experts feel that the IEP's were written correctly according to the "child(ren) team".
- In addition to compiling a corrective action plan LCCPA has contracted with a company recommended by the DISTRICT to review each IEP to ensure that all IEP's are written according to the district's standards and preferences. This company has experience in the DISTRICT's preferential writing style as it pertains to IEP's.
- LCCPA's staff was not provided any technical assistance by the sponsor Respondent as to exactly what its reporting expectations were. This resulted in the confusing state of

affairs that LCCPA is now equipped and committed to rectify Respondent asserts that LCCPA committed material violations by refusing to provide evidence to substantiate financial expenditures.

- Further the Respondent asserts that due to LCCPA's non-compliance with special education laws, it barred LCCPA from enrolling further students.

However, the appellee previously cited LCCPA for financial issues arising from its failure to enroll as many students as it projected for its initial classes. Such a sanction would doom LCCPA to continued financial difficulties if LCCPA were to stop enrolling students while it still has a shortage in its projected enrollment. This sanction placed LCCPA in a catch 22 situation. Further, not accepting all students that applied would violate the law as LCCPA's charter agreement requires it to accept every student who request admission.

iii. LCCPA failed to comply with other Laws and Regulations.

Here, the Respondent asserts that LCCPA committed material violations related to education laws, including federal laws, requiring the use of highly qualified teachers.

However, the qualifications of the LCCPA teachers are in the record, Rec 0667, and clearly show that the faculty more than meets the qualification requirement required of them by the South Carolina Charter School Act, REC _____ and that of its charter. Rec 267-639.

iii. LCCPA breached the Charter, Contract and Act by failing to Substantiate Financial Expenditures and Background Checks of Tutors.

Respondent asserts that LCCPA committed material violations by refusing to provide evidence to ~~substantiates~~substantial financial expenditures.

However, charter schools operate autonomously. Thus, the level of reporting between a charter school and its sponsor are only as agreed to by the parties in their charter agreement.

Dr. Brazzle, the Superintendent of the appellee, has testified under oath that that is the case. (SCPCSD v. MLD ACADEMY, 2012-CP- ___-____-___).

Moreover, the Appellant has not refused to give the Respondent any information but protested the onerous nature of the request and asked that the request be more detailed and limited so the appellant could reply to the specific requests. Rec. pg 2402-pg 2404.

A. B. LCCPA Failed to Meet or Make Reasonable Progress Towards its Academic Goals and Objectives, as Defined in its Charter.

The Respondent asserts that LCCPA committed material violations by failing to make reasonable progress towards its academic goals and objectives.

However, LCCPA is the only charter school that received a B grade on the latest AYP.

LCCPA, in only its third year of operation, outscored all of the schools in the surrounding school districts and LCCPA graduated 100% of its senior class when no other district school did so;

B. C.—LCCPA Failed to Meet Generally Accepted Fiscal Management Practices.

The Respondent further asserts that LCCPA committed material violations by failing to meet generally accepted fiscal management practices. However, That is clearly not the case since LCCPA's records are maintained by an outside accounting firm that reports their findings to the ~~Respondent~~Respodnent. Rec pgs 204-214.

D C. LCCPA Failed to Comply with State and Federal Laws and Regulations.

Here, the Respondent merely repeats allegations that have been addressed above regarding special education, teacher qualification and teacher evaluations. It is ironic that

while the Respondent alleged that LCCPA employed unqualified personnel it hired many of those same people after it effectively closed LCCPA by cutting off its funds.

II. The South Carolina Charter Act is unconstitutional in its provision which allows a charter school sponsor be both the accuser and finder of fact in a charter revocation hearing under section 59-40-110 (C) of the South Carolina Charter School Act (South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated 1976);

The Appellant's argument on this issue is fully set out in its brief filed in the Administrative law court which is part of this record. Rec __-.

A. Standard of Review.

A fundamental constitutional guarantee is that all legal proceedings will be fair and that one will be given notice of the proceedings and an opportunity to be heard by a neutral and detached fact finder before the government acts to take away one's life, liberty or property.

The constitutional guarantees due process of law, found in the Fourteenth and Fifteenth to the U. S. Constitution, and corresponding parts of the South Carolina constitution, prohibits all levels of government from arbitrarily or unfairly depriving individuals of their basic constitutional rights to life, liberty and property without due process of law.

In the criminal context the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury is guaranteed in the Sixth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution.

It is fundamental to the American Scheme of Justice that conflicts are presided over and decided by **impartial judges and juries**. The law is rife with cases involving the right to trial of a criminal defendant by an impartial judge and jury. However, there is a distinct absence of case involving impartial judges and juries in a civil context. Yet, one would be hard

pressed to find anyone who does not feel that all proceedings should be before an impartial judge and jury.

Please see two articles addressing the issue for your review. The first article is a Wikipedia article on Judicial Disqualification and the other is a Valparaiso University Law Review Article,

Volume 28 Number 2, pp 543-561.

B. Discussion of the Issue.

The LCCPA was not afforded due process of law when the Respondent decided to revoke its charter. This case should be reversed on the unfair application of that law in this case which resulted in the Appellant being afforded procedural due process in a sham proceeding. The judge in this case was Mr. Don McLaurin, the chairman of the board of the Respondent, South Carolina Public Charter School District and boss of the Superintendent of the school district, Mr. Wayne Brazzle. LCCPA was given procedural due process but was denied substantive due process.

The chairman of the Respondent, South Carolina Public Charter School District, to wit:

Mr. Don McLaurin, orchestrated a campaign with the assistance of the district superintendent, Wayne Brazzle, to discredit LCCPA. Mr. McLaurin then presided over an unfair revocation hearing with a predetermined outcome where the board he chairs voted to revoke LCCPA's charter.

The South Carolina Public Charter School District was created by the General Assembly in § 59-40-220 (A) of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976).

That act provided:

That The South Carolina Public Charter School District must be governed by a board of trustees consisting of not more than eleven members, § 59-40-230 (A),

That The South Carolina Public Charter School District must be housed in the State Department of Education, § 59-40-220 (C),

That The South Carolina Public Charter School District Board of Trustees shall annually elect a chairman and other officers, as it considers necessary from among its membership. § 59-40-230 (C). That chairman, Mr. Don McLaurin, who has served as chairman since the 2008-2009 school year.

That The South Carolina Public Charter School District Board of Trustees shall have the power to hire and fire the superintendent of the district who may have staff as needed. § 59-40-230 (E)(12). The superintendent is now Dr. Wayne Brazzle. He was hired by and reports to superintendent Don McLaurin and/or the board he chairs. They are housed, when Mr. McLaurin is in Columbia, in the same building and work closely together on a regular basis.

That to become a charter school an applicant must successfully apply for charter school status with the Charter School Advisory Committee whose members are appointed by the State Board of Education, § 59-40-70.

That a charter must be revoked or not renewed by the **sponsor** if it determines that the charter school:

(1) committed a material violation of the conditions, standards, or procedure provided for in the charter application;

(2) failed to meet or make reasonable progress, as defined in the charter application, toward pupil achievement standards identified in the charter application;

(3) failed to meet generally accepted standards of fiscal management; or
(4) violated any provision of law from which the charter school was specifically exempted. § 59-40-110 (C).

That the charter school may request a hearing on the revocation decision and the sponsor shall conduct a hearing before taking final action. § 59-40-110 (F).

The SCPCSD gave LCCPA a sham hearing and revoked LCCPA 's charter on May 8, 2014 allegedly using all four (4) prongs for revocation noted above.

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