**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

John D. McLeod, Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-002372  
Civil Action No. 14-ALJ-30-1256-AP

---

RECEIVED  
JUL 13 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

Lake City College Preparatory Academy ..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Public Charter School District..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

A. Mattison Bogan  
Erik T. Norton  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
Post Office Box 11070  
Columbia, SC 29211-1070  
(803) 799-2000

*Attorneys for Respondent South Carolina  
Public Charter School District*

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

## Counter-Statement of Issues on Appeal

- I. Must this Court affirm the Administrative Law Court's Order because Lake City College Preparatory Academy ("the School") has abandoned, failed to appeal, or failed to preserve for appeal numerous issues and arguments, any one of which is a valid, independent, and sufficient basis to sustain the Order?
  
- II. Did the Administrative Law Court correctly conclude that the School's Charter was lawfully and properly revoked under Section 59-40-110 of the South Carolina Charter School Act due to the School's numerous failures and shortcomings?
  
- III. Did the Administrative Law Court correctly conclude that Section 59-40-110(J) of the South Carolina Charter School Act is constitutional and that the School was not entitled to a stay pending appeal under either the amended or pre-amendment version of that statute?

### Counter-Statement of the Case

Appellant Lake City College Preparatory Academy (“the School” or “LCCPA”) is a charter school located in Lake City, South Carolina, which served approximately 200 students in Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade through an arts and music-based curriculum patterned after the Harlem School of Arts. (Final Decision dated May 23, 2014 ¶ 1, R. pp. 3-19; Charter Application, R. pp. 267-651.) The stated mission of the School is “to create[ ] a high quality college preparatory instructional environment where a strong commitment to the creative arts is manifested which will lead to high levels of academic achievement.” (*Id.* at ¶ 3, R. p. 278; Charter Application, R. pp. 267-651.)

Respondent South Carolina Public Charter School District (the “District”) is a statewide school district created by the Act and charged with approving, revoking, or non-renewing charters in accordance with the South Carolina Charter Schools Act of 1996, codified at S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59–40–10 to –240 (the “Act”). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 59–40–220. The District is responsible for monitoring the academic, governance, legal, and fiscal operations of charter schools. *Id.* at § 59–4–55(A).

The School was granted a charter (the “Charter”) by the Board and began operating in August 2009. (Charter Application, R. pp. 267-651; Contract, R. pp. 2255-2265; Board Update Delivered March 13, 2014, R. pp. 852-859.) The Record contains a lengthy history of correspondence documenting the School’s failures to meet its obligations under its Charter and the Act, beginning approximately two years after the Charter was approved and culminating in a Notice of Default issued December 4, 2013. (Letters from District to School dated July 27, 2011, June 5, 2012, Oct. 8, 2012, Dec. 18, 2012, April 22, 2013, May 14, 2013, Aug. 27, 2013, and Sept. 27, 2013, R. pp. 766-769;

779-796.) The Board voted to revoke the School's Charter at its regularly scheduled Board meeting March 13, 2014. (Notice of Revocation Letter, R. pp. 1-2; Audio, Meeting Minutes, and Agenda for March 13, 2014 Board Meeting, R. pp. 839-850.)

By letter dated March 26, 2014, the School requested a hearing under S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-110(F). (Letter Buyck to District, R. p. 869.) A hearing was scheduled by mutual consent for 1:00 p.m. on May 8, 2014, and the District's counsel sent the School's counsel written notice of the hearing. (April 3, 2014 Letter Norton to Buyck, R. p. 871.)

At the May 8, 2014 hearing, the Board voted unanimously to affirm its prior decision to revoke the School's Charter under Section 59-40-110 of the Act. (Notice of Revocation, R. pp. 1-2; Transcript of May 8, 2014 District Board Hearing ("Tr."), R. pp. 25-262.) On May 15, 2014, prior to receiving the Board's Final Decision, the School filed a Notice of Appeal with the Administrative Law Court. (Notice of Appeal, R. pp. 2829-2832.) On May 23, 2014, the Board issued its Final Decision revoking the School's Charter. (Final Decision, R. pp. 3-19.) The School filed its amended Notice of Appeal on June 16, 2014, seeking review of the Final Decision. (Amended Notice of Appeal, R. pp. 2836-2839.)

On June 30, 2014, the District moved to enforce the Final Decision during the pendency of the appeal. (Motion to Enforce, R. pp. 2840-2851.) On August 6, 2014, following a hearing with counsel, the Administrative Law Court granted the District's motion and implement an expedited briefing schedule. (Order at 1, R. pp. 2807-2812.) The court concluded that neither the pre- nor post-amendment version of Section 59-40-110(J), which had been amended shortly prior to the School's appeal before that court, entitled the School to a stay of the Final Decision pending the appeal. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 6-21, R.

pp. 2808-2811.) Accordingly, the Final Decision below has not been stayed.

On September 4, 2014, counsel for both parties attended and participated in a hearing before Judge McLeod regarding the School's appeal. On October 9, 2014, Judge McLeod issued an Order affirming the Final Decision of the Board on multiple grounds (the "Order"). (Order, R. pp. 2817-2828.) This appeal followed.

### **Standard of Review**

The Administrative Procedures Act establishes this Court's standard of review for cases decided by the Administrative Law Court and is set forth in Section 1-23-610(B) of the South Carolina Code, which provides:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

*Risher v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 203-04, 712

S.E.2d 428, 431 (2011); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).<sup>1</sup> ““The decision of the [ALC] should not be overturned unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence or controlled by some error of law.”” *Be Mi, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Revenue*, 408 S.C. 290, 297, 758 S.E.2d 737, 740-41 (Ct. App. 2014) (citations omitted). “[T]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency’s finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* at 297-98, 758 S.E.2d 741 (citing *Risher*, 393 S.C. at 210, 712 S.E.2d at 434).

### Argument<sup>2</sup>

The Administrative Law Court’s ruling should be upheld for a number of reasons appearing in the Record, any one of which provides a sufficient basis to affirm the Administrative Law Court’s Order. As an initial matter, this Court need not consider or rule upon a number of the arguments the School raises in its appellate brief because those arguments are either not preserved for appellate review or have been abandoned as a result of the School’s failure to provide any authority or coherent discussion of the issues in its initial brief. Any one of these unpreserved or abandoned issues provides an adequate basis for the Administrative Law Court’s Order and for this Court’s affirmance of that Order.

In addition to these procedural issues, the substantial evidence in the Record belies each of the School’s many issues on appeal. The School’s arguments on appeal are based largely on the contention that the May 8, 2014 revocation hearing was a “sham

---

<sup>1</sup> In contrast to the standard of review mandated by statute and set out above, the School’s Brief incorrectly asserts that its good intentions and efforts to improve are all that is required to avoid revocation of its charter. (*See, e.g.*, App. Brief at 4–5, 8, 16–18, 26.)

<sup>2</sup> The order and presentation of the points in the School’s brief make the issues before this Court needlessly lengthy and repetitive, which has caused this Response Brief to be longer than should be necessary.

proceeding” by a “Kangaroo Court” with a “predetermined outcome.” The School argues if the Board had been impartial, it would have found that the School was doing the best it could given its student population, and excused the School’s failures to comply with state and federal law and its violations of its Contract<sup>3</sup> and Charter. However, the Record provides no support for such assertions, and the School’s best efforts fell short of the Act’s requirements.

Instead, the Record shows that despite the District’s repeated attempts to work with and facilitate the School’s progress, the School failed to comply with special education laws and other education laws and regulations, failed to provide documentation to substantiate expenditures of public funds, failed to keep proper records of background checks, and failed to meet the academic standards it set for itself. The School was given the chance to develop and fulfill a corrective action plan over a period of more than one year, and it still failed to correct its noncompliance with the Charter, the Contract, and state laws and regulations. Further, the School brazenly refused to comply with statutorily-authorized sanctions. Therefore, the Administrative Law Court properly concluded that the Final Decision of the District’s Board was supported by substantial evidence providing multiple independent grounds to revoke the School’s Charter.

**I. The School abandoned many of its issues on appeal, each of which provides an independent basis to affirm the Administrative Law Court’s Order.**

As an initial matter, this Court need not consider several of the School’s issues on appeal because the School makes only conclusory, unsupported arguments concerning

---

<sup>3</sup> The Act requires the District and charter school to enter into a contract, based on a template approved by the State Department of Education, which “reflects all provisions outlined in the application as well as the roles, powers, responsibilities and performance expectations for each party to the contract.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-60(B).

the Administrative Law Court’s rulings. For example, in its appellate brief, the School sets forth only cursory, conclusory arguments, generally without any citation to the Record or authority and devoid of any discussion of evidence or authority in support of its **first, eighth, ninth, tenth** and **eleventh** issues/arguments on appeal.<sup>4</sup> (See App. Br. at 6–9, 23–25, and 27–28.)

It is well-settled that when—as the School’s brief does here—an appellant’s brief treats an argument in a conclusory manner, that argument is effectively abandoned on appeal. See *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 449, 743 S.E.2d 746, 767 (2013) (noting argument is effectively abandoned if appellant’s brief treats it in a conclusory manner) (citing *Houck v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 366 S.C. 7, 620 S.E.2d 326 (2005)); *Broom v. Jennifer J.*, 403 S.C. 96, 115, 742 S.E.2d 382, 391 (2013) (“Issues raised in a brief but not supported by authority may be deemed abandoned and not considered on appeal.”); *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (holding issue is abandoned if argument is not supported by authority or is only conclusory).

In addition, the School failed to preserve its **second** and **seventh** issue for appellate review. It is well settled that an appellate court will not consider an issue unless

---

<sup>4</sup> The School’s eighth, ninth, tenth and eleventh argument sections are quite abbreviated, and the absence of supporting precedent or Record evidence is glaringly obvious. The School’s first argument section of its Brief is lengthier but similarly devoid of authority or evidence. For example, the School argues—without a single citation to the Record or other authority in support—that the Administrative Law Court erred in finding the School’s Charter was lawfully revoked because of the School’s failure to comply with special education laws. (App. Brief at 6–7.) Instead of relying on evidence in the Record or other authority to support this argument, the School relies on vague references to unidentified “Special Education consultants” and a “company” the School has contracted with to review IEPs, and makes conclusory arguments that the District failed to help the School meet its special education obligations. (*Id.*) Similarly, in its Brief, the School does not address the Administrative Law Court’s finding that the School failed to comply with the requirement to perform teacher evaluations. (See Order at 6, R. p. 2822.)

it was both raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. *Buist v. Buist*, 410 S.C. 569, 574, 766 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014). Here, the Administrative Law Court never ruled on the School's second issue (the constitutionality of the Act as applied to the School), and the School failed to ever raise its seventh issue (the alleged violations of "other provisions" of the Act) to the Administrative Law Court because its arguments on that issue were incoherent and incomplete. *See* Sections III and VIII, *infra*.

In sum, the School's first, second, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth, and eleventh issues are unpreserved or abandoned. Each of these issues provided an independent basis to revoke the School's Charter, and each requires affirmance of the lower court's Order.

**II. The Administrative Law Court properly determined the School's Charter was lawfully revoked under S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-110.**

In its Order, the Administrative Law Court ruled the School's Charter was lawfully revoked under the Act. (*See* Order at 4-7, R. pp. 2820-2823.) On appeal, the School argues this was error. (App. Brief at 6-9.) The School's argument, however, is abandoned, *see* Section I, *supra*, and in any event, the Administrative Law Court's ruling was correct. Section 59-40-110(C) provides that a sponsor must revoke a school's charter if the charter school does any one of the following:

- (1) committed a material violation of the conditions, standards, or procedures provided for in the charter application;
- (2) failed to meet or make reasonable progress, as defined in the charter application, toward pupil achievement standards identified in the charter application;
- (3) failed to meet generally accepted standards of fiscal management; or
- (4) violated any provision of law from which the charter school was not specifically exempted.

S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-110(C). The Administrative Law Court properly concluded substantial evidence in the Record supports the Final Decision that at least one of the above criteria requiring revocation exists in this case. (Order at 4-7, R. pp. 2820-2823.) In fact, the School committed acts that met *all four* criteria, only one of which is required for revocation. As explained below, there is ample Record evidence warranting the Administrative Law Court's ruling.

**A. Substantial evidence in the Record supports the Administrative Law Court's findings that the School's Charter was lawfully revoked based on its failure to comply with special education laws.**

There is ample Record evidence to support the Administrative Law Court's ruling that the School's Charter was lawfully revoked for the School's failure to comply with special education laws. The School ignores in its brief—as it has throughout these proceedings—that it agreed to comply with special education laws in its Charter and Contract. (Charter at 176-79, R. pp. 439-442; *id.* at 220-21, R. pp. 483-484; *id.* at Statement of Assurances, R. p. 2250; Contract at ¶ 2.5, R. p. 2255.) However, testimony of both District personnel and the School's personnel, along with documentary evidence, demonstrates the School's abject failure to meet its special education obligations.

For example, the Record contains findings by the State Department of Education that the School did not meet special education requirements. (DOE Individual Student Corrections Aug. 8, 2012, R. pp. 1695-1696.) District Special Education Coordinator Rebecca Davis provided documentary evidence and testified at length about the School's failure to comply with special education laws for more than forty of its students. (Tr. 73:25-99:13, R. pp. 97-123; Dec. 18, 2012 Letter from District to School Regarding Noncompliance, R. pp. 2384-2386; Summary of Special Education Data, R. pp. 1690-

1693.)

The School's special education consultant,<sup>5</sup> Albertha Bannister, confirmed the School was *not* compliant with special education law under questioning by the School's attorneys.

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